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The principal issue inthis appeal concerns the sufficiency of
the evidence on whether Janmes Carlos Clark was a requisite
“fugitive fromjustice” for federal firearns convictions, including
18 U.S.C. 8 922(g)(2) (prohibiting firearm possession by fugitive
from justice). Had C ark renewed his notion for judgnment of
acquittal at the close of all evidence, this issue would have
presented a matter of first inpression for our circuit: whether

fugitive fromjustice status, as defined at 18 U. S.C. § 921(a)(15),

"Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the court has determ ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the Ilimted circunstances set forth in 5THQR R 47.5. 4.



requires proving, on a subjective basis, intent to flee
prosecution. Along this line, Cark contends: wunder any standard,
t he evidence was insufficient to prove such status; and, therefore,
the district court erred in denying judgnent of acquittal.

Under the very restricted nmanifest mscarriage of justice
standard, nade applicable by Cark’s failure to renew his notion
for judgnent of acquittal at the close of all the evidence, his
sufficiency challenge fails. In addition, thereis no nerit to his
contesting his sentence-enhancenent because of obliterated serial
nunbers on firearns. AFFI RVED

l.

Clark travel ed frequently between the Starkville, M ssissippi,
area and Chicago, Illinois. Inearly 1999, after being arrested in
Chicago for felony possession of a controlled substance, dark
falsely identified hinself as Mirris Bailey and provided a false
address in Col unbus, M ssi ssi ppi.

Approxi mately three nonths later, Cark was arraigned in the
Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois. The case was conti nued,
wth Cark released on bond. In Septenber 1999, Clark failed to
appear in court. An arrest warrant was issued.

In | ate Novenber 1999, C ark was back in custody in Illinois,
havi ng been arrested again. The next nonth, however, the bond was

r ei nst at ed.



On 13 January 2000, Cark failed, once again, to appear in
court; the Cook County court again issued an arrest warrant for
Morris Bailey. Apparently, this warrant remains outstandi ng.

Clark traveled to M ssissippi and recruited others to act for
hi m between 11 July and 15 August 2000 as straw purchasers of
firearnms from federally-licensed firearns dealers, for resale in
Chi cago. In each instance, the purchaser answered question 9A of
the federally-mandated ATF form as foll ows: he or she was the
actual buyer (i.e., not buying for another party) and was not a
fugitive fromjustice. Later, many of those firearns purchased in
M ssissippi, including sone with filed-down serial nunbers, were
recovered follow ng sales in Chicago.

I n June 2001, Clark was indicted in M ssissippi on nine counts
of federal firearns violations. At trial in Septenber 2002,
follow ng the Governnent’ s case-in-chief, O ark noved for judgnent
of acquittal on all counts; the notion was granted for one count.

I n denyi ng such judgnent concerning the fugitive fromjustice
issue that is also raised here, the court engaged in a detail ed and
conprehensive analysis. It held the Governnent was only required
to

prove the followng elenments in order to
denonstrate that Cark was a fugitive from
justice and, thus, a person not legally
entitled to purchase or possess firearns.
Nunmber one, Cark knew charges were pending
against him nunber tw, Cdark refused to

answer those charges; and, three, Cark left
the jurisdiction where charges were pending.



It is not necessary that the governnent prove

that Cark left [Illinois] wth intent to

avoid the charges pending against him The

Court therefore rejects [Cark’s] argunent

t hat the governnent need prove that C ark knew

his court date or that a warrant had issued.
Accordingly, the district court found “that a reasonable jury could
conclude that Clark was a fugitive from justice”. Clark then
presented his case. At the conclusion of all the evidence,
however, he failed to renew his notion for judgnent of acquittal.

The jury was unable to return verdicts on four counts, which
were |ater dismssed. It returned guilty verdicts on the remnaining
counts. Cark was sentenced, inter alia, to 57 nonths
i npri sonnent .

.

Cl ark appeal s his conviction and sentence. For the forner, he
chal l enges the sufficiency of the evidence; for the latter, the
obliterated-serial -nunbers adjustnent to his base offense | evel

A

Clark was convicted of: one count for violation of 18 U. S. C
8 922(g)(2), which prohibits a fugitive from justice from
transporting “or possess[ing] in or affecting conmmerce” any
firearnms; two counts for violation of 18 U S.C. § 922(a)(6), which
prohi bits causi ng, aiding, abetting, and i nduci ng a straw purchaser

to make material false witten statenents in connection with the

acquisition of firearns; and one count for violation of 18 U S. C



8§ 371, conspiracy to make false statenments in the acquisition of
firearms froma federally |icensed deal er.

The Governnent maintains that fugitive fromjustice status is
not a prerequisite to convicting Clark for the counts under § 371
and 8§ 922(a)(6), citing United States v. Otiz-Loya, 777 F.2d 973
(5th Gr. 1985) (uphol ding convictions for aiding and abetting and
conspiracy to nake fal se statenents by straw purchasers regarding
identity of actual purchasers). Based on our very restricted
standard of review for Cark’s sufficiency of the evidence
chal | enge, discussed infra, we need not reach this issue.
Restated, for each of the four counts, we will assune (as held by
the district court) that dark’s purchase would be illegal only if
he is a fugitive fromjustice. Caimng insufficient evidence for
such status, Clark naintains it requires proving, on a subjective
basis, his intent to flee prosecution.

When a defendant properly noves for judgnent of acquittal, a
sufficiency challenge fails if, construing the evidence in the
light nost favorable to the verdict, “any rational trier of fact
could have found that [it] established guilt beyond a reasonable
doubt ”. United States v. Shelton, 325 F.3d 553, 557 (5th Gr.
2003) (citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U S. 307, 318-19 (1979)).
As discussed, although Cdark noved for judgnent of acquittal
follow ng the Governnent’s case, he did not renew his notion at the

close of all the evidence. Cark presented several w tnesses in



hi s defense, and, after the close of the evidence, objected to the
jury instructions on finding fugitive from justice status
(concerning that status, the charge was consistent with the
district court’s above-quoted denial of the acquittal notion at the
close of the Governnent’s case); but, Cdark never renewed his

nmotion for judgnent of acquittal.

I n respondi ng on appeal to this claim however, the Governnent
failed toidentify this omssion by Clark. O course, we, not the
parties, determ ne our standard of review E. g., United States v.
Herrera, 313 F.3d 882, 885 n.* (5th Cr. 2002)(en banc). Under
this procedural posture, that standard is well settl ed:

[ When the defendant noves for judgnent of
acquittal at the close of the governnent’s
case in chief, and defense evidence is
thereafter presented but the defendant fails
to renew the notion at the conclusion of al
of the evidence, he waives objection to the
denial of his earlier nmotion.... Accordingly,
our review is limted to determ ni ng whet her
t here was a mani f est m scarri age of
justice.... That occurs only where the record
is devoid of evidence pointing to guilt or
contains evidence on a key elenent of the
of fense [that is] so tenuous that a conviction
woul d be shocki ng.

United States v. Mlntosh, 280 F.3d 479, 483 (5th Gr. 2002)

(enphasis added; internal quotation marks omtted; citations
omtted; alterations in original). As explained infra, there is
evidence in the record — indeed, quite abundant — pointing to

Clark’s guilt under any standard for fugitive fromjustice status;

his conviction is not a manifest m scarriage of justice.
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A “fugitive fromjustice” is defined as “any person who has
fled fromany State to avoid prosecution for a crinme or to avoid
giving testinony in any crimnal proceeding”. 18 U S C 8§
921(a)(15). Noting that our court has not determned the requisite
standard of proof for such status, C ark maintains we should fol |l ow
the Ninth and El eventh Grcuits and require the Governnent to prove
he intended to flee a jurisdiction for the purpose of avoiding
prosecuti on. Cl ark asserts: the evidence was insufficient to
prove, on a subjective basis, his intent; and, therefore, the
Governnent is unable to prove a necessary el enent of fugitive from
justice status. Alternatively, he contends that, even under the
| esser standard used by the district court for such status, the
evi dence was insufficient.

In the context of a 8§ 922(g)(2) violation (fugitive from
justice possessing firearm, United States v. Durcan, 539 F.2d 29,
30-31 (9th Gr. 1976), held that “an i ndi spensabl e requisite of the

prosecution’s proof” is showi ng the defendant | eft the jurisdiction

“Wwth the intent to avoid arrest or prosecution”. Durcan held the
evidence insufficient to “establish the... specific intent
required”. ld. at 32. United States v. Collins, 61 F.3d 1379,

1385 (9th Gr. 1995), reiterated this standard, closing a | oophol e
in the Durcan analysis so that it includes fugitives who return to
the prosecuting jurisdiction but continue to conceal thenselves

fromauthorities there.



Simlarly, the Eleventh CGrcuit has held that, in the context
of 8§ 922(g)(2), the Governnent nust prove t he def endant “purposely”
stayed outside the jurisdiction “with the intent to avoid

prosecution”; [Mere absence from the jurisdiction in which a
crime occurred does not render the suspect a fugitive from
justice’”. United States v. Gonzalez, 122 F.3d 1383, 1387 (1l1th
Cir. 1997) (quoting United States v. Fonseca- Machado, 53 F. 3d 1242,
1243-44 (11th Cr. 1995)).

In urging adoption of this standard, Cark clains the
Gover nnment nust prove, on a subjective basis, that heleft Illinois
wWth the specific intent to avoid prosecution there. He clains the
Governnent cannot do so, naintaining: al t hough the Governnent
proved he knew of the outstanding charges, it failed to prove he
was aware of any specific court date; it did not offer any evi dence
—such as proof Cl ark received witten docunentation or a notice of
hearing relating to a specific court date in Illinois —that bears
on his intent for leaving Illinois and mssing his court
appearance; no evidence was presented that his failure to appear
was anything nore than a mstake; and if, as the Governnent
contends, he was traveling between M ssissippi and Illinois for the
pur pose of selling firearnms, he could not possibly be a fugitive in
any neani ngful sense because of his repeated, voluntary returns to
I1linois, the prosecuting jurisdiction. Cark contends that the

Gover nnent nust prove that he willfully avoided the charges.



Quite different requirenents for fugitive fromjustice status
are foll owed by the Fourth and Seventh G rcuits. |In the context of
both 8 922(g)(2) (prohibiting fugitive fromjustice possession of
firearm) and 8 922(a)(6) (proscribing causing straw purchaser to
make material false statenents for firearmpurchase), United States
v. Spillane, 913 F.2d 1079, 1081 (4th Cr. 1990), rejected the
claim®“that to neet the requisite burden of proof the prosecution
must show that the [defendant] left [the jurisdiction] with the
intent to avoid facing the charges pendi ng agai nst hinf. |nstead,
Spillane held the status proved if the defendant purposely left the
prosecution jurisdiction, know ng that charges are pending, and

refused to answer those charges by appearing before the prosecuting

tribunal. In this regard, “[i]t is not necessary that the accused
make a furtive exit from the prosecuting jurisdiction”. ld. at
1082.

Li kewi se, United States v. Ballentine, 4 F.3d 504, 506 (7th
Cr. 1993), held that “know edge of one’'s status as a ‘fugitive’
sinply is not an elenent of 18 U S.C. 8§ 922(9g)(2)". Fugitive
status does require scienter, but it is not know edge that a
defendant carries the “nane or status of ‘fugitive ”; instead, it
is know edge that charges are pending against him | d. An
i ndi vidual who, wth such know edge, deliberately |eaves the

prosecuting jurisdiction and refuses to answer those charges by

appearing before the court is a fugitive fromjustice. Id.



As discussed, because Cark failed to properly nove for
j udgnent of acquittal, we need not deci de which approach to foll ow
the issue is waived. Instead, we reviewonly to ensure there is no
mani fest m scarriage of justice.

Along that line, it is not disputed that Cark intentionally

left Illinois, know ng charges were pendi ng agai nst hi mthere under
a false nane. There is evidence that: Clark failed to appear
before the court in Illinois where charges were pending; he had
failed to appear in lllinois court once before; and he deliberately
msled Illinois authorities by providing both a fal se nane (Bail ey)
and fal se address (M ssissippi). Insum the recordis not “devoid

of evidence” pointing to Clark’s guilt —far fromit.
B

Clark clainms there was insufficient evidence to support his
sent ence enhancenent, pursuant to U.S.S. G 8§ 2K2.1(b)(4) (two | evel
enhancenent if firearmhas “obliterated serial nunber”), for filed
down serial nunbers on sone of the recovered firearns. Noting that
he was not convicted of offenses with respect to these firearns,
Clark contends: others obliterated the nunbers; and he shoul d not
be sentenced on the basis of their conduct.

The district court’s application and interpretation of the
Sentenci ng CGuidelines are reviewed de novo; its findings of fact,
only for clear error. E.g., United States v. Jinenez, 323 F.3d

320, 322 (5th Gr. 2003). In sentencing, the burden of proof is by
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a preponderance of the evidence; and the district court may rely on
unchar ged of fenses, di sm ssed counts, or even of fenses on which the
defendant is acquitted. E.g., United States v. Watts, 519 U S
148, 157 (1997); United States v. Cockerham 919 F.2d 286, 289 (5th
Cir. 1990), overrul ed on other grounds, United States v. Cal verl ey,
37 F.3d 160, 163 n.20 (5th Gr. 1994) (en banc).

There was no error. Cark’s not being convicted on an of fense
relating to these firearns did not preclude the district court’s
considering themfor sentencing purposes. For exanple, one person
testified: although he and another did file off the serial nunbers
on several firearns, they did so at Clark’s request, imrediately
prior to delivering themto himfor sale in Chicago.

L1l
For the foregoing reasons, the judgnent is

AFFI RVED.
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